IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 19-0519

MUNGER, REINSCHMIDT & DENNE, L.L.P., Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

ROSANNE M. LIENHARD PLANTE and CHAD L. PLANTE, Defendants-Appellants.

FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY WOODBURY COUNTY NO. LACV182567 The Hon. Nancy L. Whittenburg

FINAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

Bruce Johnson AT0003859 CUTLER LAW FIRM, P.C. 1307 50th Street West Des Moines, Iowa 50266 Telephone: 515-223-660 Facsimile: 515-223-6787 E-mail: bjohnson@cutler.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

Statement of Issues Presented for Review

I. Should the Munger fee contract be evaluated for reasonableness
from its inception to the conclusion of provision of services, and if so does
that evaluation show the fee contract violates Rule 32:1.5(a) of the Iowa
Rules of Professional Conduct because it charges an unreasonable fee and
expense and the fee contract is therefore void and unenforceable?
Cases Page(s)
Balducci v. Cige 192 A.3d 1064, (N.J. Sup. App. Div. 2018)43
Brown & Strum v. Frederick Rd. Ltd. P'ship 768 A.2d 62, 79 (Md. App. 2001)47
Clarke v. General Motors, LLC 161 F. Supp. 3d 752, 769 n. 16 (W.D. Mo. 2015)42,45
Comm. on Prof'l Ethics and Conduct of the Iowa State Bar Ass'n v. McCullough 468 N.W.2d 458, 460 (Iowa 1991)9, 10, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40
Discipline of Charles L. Dorothy 605 N.W.2d 493, 495-496, 498 (S.D. 2000)51, 52, 53
Estate of Bruess v. Law Firm of John Belhensen, P.C. 838 N.W.2d 868 (Table), *4 (Ia. Ct. App., Aug. 7, 2013)
Farmers' & Merchants' Bank of Monroe, N.C. v. Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, Va 262 US 649, 660 (1923)32

Hensley v. Eckerkhart 461 U.S. 424, 434 (1983)
Hogan Willig v. Handel 126 A.D.3d 1311, 1312 6 N.Y.S.3d 338, 340 (Sup. Ct., App. Div., 4 th Dept., N.Y. 2015)61, 62
Holmes v. Loveless 94 P.3d 338, 339 (Ct. App. Wash. 2004)53
In re Receivership of Mt. Pleasant Bank & Trust Co. 426 N.W.2d 126 (Iowa 1988)
Iowa Supreme Court Board of Professional Ethics and Conduct v. Hoffman 572 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa 1997)10, 38, 43, 45, 47
<i>King v. Fox</i> 851 N.E.2d 1184, 1192 (Ct. App. N.Y. 2006)61
Lawrence v. Graubard Miller 901 N.E.2d 1268, 11 N.Y.3d 588 (Ct. App N.Y. 2008)61,62
Lawrence v. Miller and Lawrence 23 N.E.3d 965 (Ct. App. N.Y. 2014)
Matter of Connelly 55 P.3d 756, 761 (Arizona 2002)53
Rubin v. Murray 943 N.E.2d 949, 948-959 (App. Ct. Mass. 2011)53
Slaughter v. Des Moines University College of Osteopathic Medicine 925 N.W.2d 793, 800 (Iowa 2019)30
Thompson v. Kaczinski 774 N.W.2d 774 N.W.2d 829, 832 (Iowa 2009)31

United Suppliers, Inc. v. Hanson 876 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 2016)31,32
Statutes
§ 633.199, Iowa Code41
§ 633.199(1), Iowa Code41
§ 535.3(1), Iowa Code
§ 668.13(1), Iowa Code57
§ 668.13(3), Iowa Code57
§ 668.13(5), Iowa Code57
Rules
Iowa Code of Professional Conduct Rule 32:1.5(a) Comment 340
Iowa Code of Professional Conduct Rule 32:1.5(a) 9, 10, 29, 30, 32, 33, 34, 35, 37, 38, 40, 41, 45, 59, 64, 66, 67
Iowa Code of Professional Responsibility, Disciplinary Rule 2-1069, 35, 37, 38, 43, 45
New Jersey Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(a)
Other
ABA Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility Informal Opinion 84-150922, 35, 36, 52
ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.5(1)47, 51, 60
Section 633.139, Iowa Code40, 41

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be retained by the Supreme Court because it is the type of case set out in Iowa R. of App. P. 6.1101(2)(c): "Cases presenting substantial issues of first impression." The question in this case is whether a law firm's contingent fee contract providing for a fee of 33% of the recovery is valid and enforceable under Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.5(a). Iowa adopted the ABA Rules of Professional Conduct in 2005. Prior to that under DR 2-106 of the Code of Professional Responsibility the test was whether an attorney fee contract provided for a "clearly excessive" fee. Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.5(a) provides that an attorney shall not charge an "unreasonable fee or expense". The District Court relied on Comm. on Prof'l Ethics and Conduct of the Iowa State Bar Ass'n v. McCullough, 468 N.W.2d 458, 460 (Iowa 1991) in which the court applying the now discarded DR 2-106 "clearly excessive" standard said: "Nor do we believe that it is the intent of DR 2-106(B) that contingent fee agreements must be reexamined at the conclusion of successful litigation with respect to the factors applicable to noncontingent fees." Id. at 461.

Even prior to adoption in 2005 of Rule 32:1.5(a), the court in *Iowa* Supreme Court Board of Professional Ethics and Conduct v. Hoffman, 572 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1997), found that "[w]hile the fee agreement...may have been reasonable at the time of its inception, changes in the attending circumstances...rendered the 33-percent contingent fee unreasonable and excessive."

The District Court, relying on *McCullough* ruled that under Rule 32:1.5(a) the reasonableness of a contingent fee contract is to be determined at the time the parties entered into the contract, but that the contract cannot be evaluated for reasonableness during the course of its operation including at the conclusion of the provision of legal services.

Since the 2005 adoption of the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct the Supreme Court has not decided the issue of at what time in the life of the fee contract it is to be evaluated for reasonableness under Rule 32:1.5(a). This is a case presenting a substantial issue of first impression and should be retained by the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Munger Firm filed its Petition September 4, 2018 seeking payment of legal fees in the amount of \$2,559,456.66 from Defendants Chad Plante and Rosanne Plante. Plaintiff also demanded interest at 1% per month on unpaid fees under a provision in the fee contract. On September 26, 2018 Defendants filed their First Amended Answer and Counterclaim. The counterclaim sought a declaratory judgment that the fee contract is invalid and Plaintiff is not entitled to a quantum meruit fee in excess of the funds already paid to Plaintiff by Defendants. The counterclaim did not change the substance of the issues but did seek an early resolution of the counterclaim to prevent hardship to Defendants due to delay in obtaining a judicial determination of the issues. On October 26, 2018 a Trial Scheduling and Discovery Plan was entered setting a trial for March 12, 2019.

On January 14, 2019 Plaintiff filed its Motion for Summary Judgment seeking judgment on its claim for fees and for interest at 1% per month. Defendants resisted. On March 4, 2019 the District Court entered its Ruling on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Judgment Entry. The District Court ruled that at the time the parties

11

entered into the fee contract it was reasonable, that Iowa law did not allow the District Court to evaluate the reasonableness of the fee contract at the conclusion of the provision of legal services or at any other time after the inception of the contract, and that the fee contract therefore was valid and enforceable. The District Court entered judgment in favor of Plaintiff for the total amount of fees prayed for less \$380,000 already paid to Plaintiff by Defendants, resulting in a total judgment in the amount of \$2,179,456.66. On March 28, 2019 the District Court entered its Ruling and Order Re Defendants' Amended and Substituted Rule 1.904(2) Motion to Amend Judgment. The judgment was amended to show that \$439,436.67 had actually been paid by Defendants to Plaintiff. That reduced the amount of the judgment to \$2,120,019.99 together with interest payable at the rate of 1% per month.

On May 7, 2019 a Supersedeas Bond was posted in the amount of \$290,000 to cover projected interest for a period of 183 days commencing on April 3, 2019.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on April 3, 2019.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Plaintiff Munger, Reinschmidt & Denne, L.L.P., ("Munger Firm") has retained in its firm trust account a sufficient portion of the recovery obtained from the City of Sioux City to pay the disputed legal fees. Defendants Chad Plante and Rosanne Plante have posted with the Clerk of Woodbury County District Court a Supersedeas Bond in the amount of \$290,000 to cover projected interest for a period of 183 days commencing on April 3, 2019.

2. On May 7, 2018 Randy Stefani, attorney for the City of Sioux City, Iowa, opened the mediation session between the Plantes and the City by stating that "the City was accepting 100% responsibility for the accident." (App. 853-854). At the mediation the City offered the Plantes \$7,500,000 to settle their claims and agreed to give the Plantes 60 days to decide whether to accept that offer. (App. 765; App. 853; Exhibit 18, Plaintiff's MSJ Facts, May 8, 2018 R. Stefani email).

3. Moreover, no party in the present proceedings, disagrees with the Trooper's testimony and conclusion that Chad Plante's speed was not a factor in the accident. (App. 769). Therefore, there can be no genuine issue of fact as to whether or not he was speeding.

13

4. The Iowa State Patrol Technical Collision Investigation

authored by Trooper L.M. Olesen states at page 14:

CONCLUSIONS

After careful evaluation and analysis of the available evidence, I determined the following:

- Vehicle #1 was being operated by Jamie Pica
- Vehicle #2 was being operated by Chad Plante
- Vehicle #1 was northbound on Highway 75, intending on making a left turn to Outer Drive
- Vehicle #2 was southbound on Highway 75
- Jamie Pica was not wearing a seatbelt in violation of Iowa Code 321.445
- Jamie Pica failed to yield the right of way to opposing traffic on a left hand turn in violation of Iowa Code 321.256
- Vehicle #1, while making a left turn, collided with vehicle #2
- The collision resulted in serious injuries to Chad Plante
- There was no improper action(s) by Chad Plante or vehicle #2

(App. 952).

5. Defendants' Exhibit A to its Corrected Resistance to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, is a May 11, 2018 email from Ann Collins showing a summary of Plaintiff's time records through April 30, 2018, which is the last day included on the last statement for services sent by Plaintiff to the Plantes. The summary shows 57.97 hours at \$310 per hour for Stan Munger and 125.05 hours at \$155 per hour for Ann Collins. The total hourly rate value charged by the Munger Firm for the time shown in Exhibit A is \$37,353.45. Exhibit 1 to Plaintiff's Reply to Defendants' Counterclaim for Declaratory Judgment shows Plaintiff's internal time records from November 16, 2016 through October 9, 2018. Exhibit 1, pages 30-32, showing time from May 1, 2018 through May 7, 2018, shows during that time period Stan Munger recorded 12.55 hours and Ann Collins recorded 13.80 hours, which valued on Plaintiff's hourly rate basis amounts to a total of \$6,029.50. Through and including the mediation on May 7, 2018 Plaintiff's recorded time when valued on Plaintiff's hourly rate basis totals \$43,382.95. (App. 935; App. 792; App. 821-823).

6. Plaintiff points out that its time records show Stan Munger worked 119.45 hours and paralegal Ann Collins worked 188.2 hours from November 16 through September 10, 2018. (App. 44-45).

7. Stan Munger testified:

Q. It just looked to me, when I read this, like you were saying that if the court determined that a reasonable fee in this case was less than 33 percent, which is the fee set out in the contract, that it would cause members of our bar to do work inefficiently and do what was unnecessary. Because they want to get more money. That's the way I read this. Is that --

A. This is --

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