#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 19-0519

# MUNGER, REINSCHMIDT & DENNE, L.L.P., Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

# ROSANNE M. LIENHARD PLANTE and CHAD L. PLANTE, Defendants-Appellants.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY NO. LACV182567 THE HONORABLE NANCY L. WHITTENBURG

#### PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Stanley E. Munger (AT0005583)
MUNGER, REINSCHMIDT & DENNE, LLP
600 Fourth Street, Suite 303
PO Box 912
Sioux City, IA 51102
(712) 233-3635
(712) 233-3649 (fax)
E-mail: stanmunger@mrdlaw.net

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

##

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF ERROR.

MRD does not dispute the standard of review statement in the Plantes' Proof Brief.

Regarding preservation of error, while the Plantes did submit a resistance to MRD's Motion for Summary Judgment, MRD submits that they have not preserved error as to either request for relief submitted on appeal by the Plantes in the argument section of their Proof Brief, as summed up in the "Relief Requested" statement found at page 67.

Preservation of error rules exist to provide district courts with the opportunity to avoid or correct errors and to provide a record for appellate

courts. *Veatch v. Bartels Lutheran Home*, 804 N.W.2d 530, 533 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011). A party must raise an issue, and the district court must rule on that issue to preserver error for appellate review. *Duck Creek Tire Serv.*, *Inc. v. Goodyear Corners, L.C.*, 796 N.W.2d 886, 892 (Iowa 2011).

The order from the district court which the Plantes appeal from granted MRD's motion for summary judgment by finding that the attorney fee contract was reasonable and valid, and determined that there were no genuine issues of material fact. (App. 774). The Plantes did not file a crossmotion for summary judgment.

The Plantes have not alleged on appeal that there are genuine issues of material fact which should have prevented the court from granting MRD's summary judgment. Although their Proof Brief condenses their claims into one subheading, the Plantes have essentially raised two issues on appeal, as summarized in their "Relief Requested" (Proof Brief p. 67). Those two claims are as follows: (1) There should be a finding on appeal that MRD's fee contract charges an unreasonable fee, is void and unenforceable under Iowa law, and there should be a remand to the district court with directions to determine a reasonable fee based on quantum meruit. This is the claim made in the Plantes' counterclaim. (App. 32). (2) Alternatively, the Plantes

submit that the district court should be ordered to perform a "reasonableness evaluation of the fee contract." (Proof Brief p. 67).

The problem with the first item of relief requested by the Plantes is that they are essentially asking the appellate court to grant summary judgment in their favor on their counterclaim by determining as a matter of law that the attorney fee contract is void and unenforceable – but they did not file such a motion for summary judgment at the district court level. The resistance that the Plantes submitted to the district court in response to MRD's motion for summary judgment did allege that the fee contract was void and unenforceable. (App. 418). However, no cross-motion for summary judgment was accordingly filed by the Plantes seeking judgment as a matter of law on their counterclaim, which alleged that the fee contract was void. The requirement of a cross-motion for summary judgment is not a mere formalistic requirement – "summary judgment may be entered only for one who has filed a motion asking that relief and only after notice and hearing on that motion." *Matter of Campbell*, 253 N.W.2d 906, 908 (Iowa 1977). Therefore, error has not been preserved by the Plantes as to their first request for relief on appeal.

As to the second request for relief on appeal (under Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.5(a), the district court should be obligated to hold

a "reasonableness evaluation" of the fee contract even in the absence of any genuine issues of material fact), the Plantes plainly failed to make this request to the district court. Iowa appellate courts do not address issues presented on appeal for the first time. *Plowman v. Fort Madison Cmty.*Hosp., 896 N.W.2d 393, 413 (Iowa 2017). Moreover, they do not cite anything in the record, which indicates that they did make such a request - in violation of Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.903(2)(g)(3).

Although not set forth in the "Relief Requested" section of the Plantes' Proof Brief, it should also be noted that on appeal, the Plantes make the argument that the interest rate charged in the attorney fee agreement is not reasonable. This claim was not made anywhere in their Resistance to MRD's motion for summary judgment, so this aspect of their argument should also be dismissed due to the failure to preserve error.

II. THE RULING OF THE DISTRICT COURT GRANTING MRD'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THEIR BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AGAINST THE PLANTES SHOULD BE UPHELD AS THE ATTORNEY FEE CONTRACT IS VALID AND ENFORCEABLE, AND CHARGES A REASONABLE FEE UNDER THE IOWA RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT AND CASE LAW PRECEDENT.

#### A. INTRODUCTION.

The question before this Court is whether a client can back out of a properly executed contingency fee agreement with an attorney which

charges a reasonable fee. The district court properly said the answer to that question is "no."

Shortly after the traumatic collision between Chad and a City of Sioux City Transit bus which caused him immediate and life-threatening injuries, Rosanne (herself an attorney with approximately two decades of experience at the time) asked Munger to represent them<sup>4</sup>. Munger agreed to do so on behalf of MRD, and he began investigating the case immediately. The Plantes declined to retain MRD's services on an hourly basis and entered into a written contingency fee agreement pursuant to the mandatory provisions of the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct. At the time the standard 33 1/3 percent contingency fee agreement (whereby the Plantes agreed to pay expenses but owed no fees to MRD until a recovery was obtained), the risks involved in the case were significant, and the ultimate outcome of the case was uncertain.

Following the execution of the fee agreement, and through the efforts of counsel, the Plantes began receiving expense payments from the City, albeit with an express denial that said payments constituted any kind of an admission as to liability. The City hired their own accident reconstructionist

<sup>4</sup> Following the collision, Chad was in a coma, so Rosanne acted on Chad's behalf via a signed Power of Attorney form. (App. 118).

after the Iowa State Patrol found that the City bus driver was at fault (but also found that Chad was traveling in excess of the speed limit prior to impact), thus indicating that the City intended to contest the case.

Eighteen months following the collision (November, 2016 to May, 2018), a mediation session was held, whereby the City offered \$7.5 million in "new money" to the Plantes to settle the matter. It was during the mediation that, for the first time in 18 months, the City accepted liability for the collision – but said acceptance was for the purpose of the mediation only. The Plantes were given 60 days to accept the offer, and they ultimately did so approximately a month after the mediation. It was not until after the mediation session and the \$7.5 million offer that the Plantes – for the first time – thought the fee agreement was unreasonable. See the following testimony of Rosanne:

- Q: So when did it first occur to you that you did not want to pay our fee?
- A: Well, I needed to go home that day. I needed to go home and consider the fee. Consider the offer. Consider everything that had happened. That was a lot that day. You wanted me to make a decision that day immediately, and the mediator wanted a decision. And I was the one who said, "I need some time because this is the single biggest financial decision Chad and I are ever going to make. And we need to go home and think about this."

And when we went home and thought about it, that's when I did think that the fee was unreasonable based on that day and that change of circumstance.

- Q: So you didn't raise that issue the day of the mediation; is that correct?
- A: I don't remember. I - that day of the mediation, as I said, it was eight hours and I hadn't eaten. And by the time we left, I know - we had an offer and I - I can't - I can't tell you what I said that day. I can't.
- Q: So just to absolutely be clear, you're saying you don't remember saying anything to me about reducing our fee on the day of the mediation. Is that your testimony?
- A: I don't remember exactly if I said that that day.
- Q: And I'm going to go back to my earlier question which is: When did you first consider not paying our fee?
- A: I believe it's when I had went home and had some time to think about some things.
- Q: On the day of the mediation?
- A: I don't know if it was exactly on the day of the mediation. It might have been - I needed some time to decompress.
- Q: Was it before the mediation?
- A: No.
- Q: Before the mediation, did you consider that we had a reasonable Fee Agreement?
- A: Yes. Based on what you had said. Based on the fact that you thought this was going to be a long, drawn-out situation; based on the fact that we thought there was going to be comparative

fault, you know, assigned to my husband; based on all the things that you had told me.

Q: This is before you signed the Fee Agreement?

A: No. You asked about before - - you had asked - - I was answering your question about before the mediation.

Q: Okay. I want to know - - you've told me that the Fee Agreement was reasonable before the mediation. And it was only on the day of the mediation that you decided you may not want to pay our fee, correct?

A: I don't know if it was on the exact day.

Q: It could have been the day after?

A: I had to go home and think about things.

Q: But it wasn't before the mediation --

A: No.

(App. 124-125).

The Iowa Supreme Court has indicated that following the successful conclusion of a case, it is both (a) inappropriate to judge the risk involved in a contingency fee case with hindsight, and (b) inappropriate to use the factors relevant to the reasonableness of noncontingent fees to judge the reasonableness of a contingency fee. *Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct of The Iowa State Bar Ass'n v. McCullough*, 468 N.W.2d 458, 461 (Iowa 1991). The Plantes' arguments on appeal rest on those two impermissible grounds and should be rejected accordingly.

Plantes' appeal notably does not dispute the following:

- They do not dispute that MRD offered to take this case on an hourly basis, and the Plantes declined their offer. Now, the Plantes argue that MRD should be paid a fee based on hours worked, an option they originally turned down.
- The Plantes do not challenge the fact that they have admitted that the attorney fee agreement was reasonable at the time it was signed. Their brief argues only that the fee "became unreasonable" after the mediation when the City offered to settle for more than \$7,600,000.
- They do not deny that Rosanne was, at the time she signed the contingency fee agreement and turned down an hourly fee agreement, an experienced, long-time Iowa lawyer who presumptively would have known two things: (1) That in Iowa the essential characteristic of a contingent fee contract is that the attorney's right to be paid any amount for their services is dependent on the result obtained. *Wunshel Law Firm, P.C. v. Clabaugh*, 291 N.W.2d 331, 333 (Iowa 1980); (2) It is not the intent of Rule 32:1.5(a), which supersedes almost verbatim, DR 2-106(B), that contingent fees must be reexamined at the conclusion

of successful litigation with respect to the factors applicable to noncontingent fees. *Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Prof'l Ethics and Conduct v. Hoffman*, 572 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1997).

The importance of Rosanne's status as an experienced lawyer who knowingly and voluntarily signed the agreement (and agreed that the fee was reasonable all the way up until the time after the offer from the City was on the table) cannot be overstated. Iowa law simply does not allow parties, particularly lawyers like Rosanne, to back out of reasonable and enforceable agreements based on subsequent events which lead them to believe that they struck a bad bargain:

[W]e may readily dismiss a running theme in Walker's argument: namely, her complaint the settlement agreement she signed eight years ago is unfair because she ended up working more than she anticipated when she signed it. The district court concisely and correctly dismissed this argument when it found:

[W]hen these parties were negotiating, neither of them could know with any certainty how much time would be required to resolve the cases...Both parties accepted the risk inherent in contingent fee cases that no fees would be payable. Both assumed the proportional division with protective maximum and minimum percentages would guard against an unfair result. The fact that one [(or both)] of the parties was wrong does not provide a basis for overturning a settlement agreement that was entered into as a result of arms-length negotiations by parties who are not only attorneys themselves but who were both also represented throughout the negotiations by other attorneys.... Walker must live with the bargain she freely entered into.

.... Walker wants now to renegotiate the [a]greement. This court will not entertain that effort. She made a bargain. Even if it was a bad

bargain, under general principles of contract law, she lives with that bargain.

(Emphasis added.) We agree with this assessment. Uncertainty is a powerful incentive for parties to accept a compromise settlement agreement. See Wright, 410 N.W.2d at 249. Much was uncertain when the parties signed the settlement agreement; such is the very nature of cases taken on a contingency-fee basis. The parties in this case assessed the situation and made their choices regarding the time and effort Walker would have to expend in the future to bring the overtime-pay cases to a successful resolution. They also gave up other claims against each other and each received some benefits. We will not interfere with their agreement—fully performed with the exception of the payment of the fees—simply because one party got the better end of the bargain. "It is ... well settled that to vitiate a settlement, a mistake must be mutual, material, and concerned with a present or past fact." Id. (emphasis added, internal quotation omitted).

Parties to contracts should not look to courts to rescue them from their bad bargains. *Smith v. Harrison*, 325 N.W.2d 92, 94 (Iowa 1982). Courts should ... support agreements which have for their object the amicable settlement of doubtful rights by parties.... [S]uch agreements are binding without regard to which party gets the best of the bargain or whether all the gain is in fact on one side and all the sacrifice on the other.

*Id.* (internal quotation omitted). "The courts can have no concern with the wisdom or folly of ... a contract." *Bjornstad v. Fish*, 249 Iowa 269, 279, 87 N.W.2d 1, 7 (1957) (citations omitted).

Walker v. Gribble, 689 N.W.2d 104, 109–10 (Iowa 2004). The logic of the Walker holding applies - this was a reasonable fee agreement, signed by an experienced lawyer, during a time of great uncertainty as to the outcome of the case. Rosanne had the chance to strike a different bargain, and she chose not to do so. Her actions and admissions constitute conclusive evidence that the fee agreement is enforceable and leads to a reasonable fee.

Accordingly, MRD submits that the district court properly granted their motion for summary judgment under Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.981.

- B. THE MRD FEE CONTRACT WHICH CHARGES THE PLANTES A CONTINGENCY FEE OF 33 1/3 % IS REASONABLE AND ENFORCEABLE ON ITS FACE.
  - 1. Case law and applicable rules of ethics governing lawyers establish the enforceability of contingency fee agreements such as the MRD fee agreement.

For decades, the following statement by the Iowa Supreme Court has been the law of Iowa: "'Ordinarily a contract between attorney and client, providing for the payment of a fee for legal services contingent upon the results obtained by the attorney, without more, is not an illegal contract, but one that is enforceable." *Stoebe v. Kitley*, 249 N.W.2d 667, 669 (Iowa 1977)(quoting *Roten v. Tesdell & Machaman*, 195 Iowa 1329, 1332-1333, 192 N.W. 442, 443 (1923)). *See also Wunschel Law Firm, P.C. v. Clabaugh*, 291 N.W.2d 331, 333 (Iowa 1980)("We have long recognized the validity of contingent fee contracts generally", quoting *Wallace v. Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway*, 112 Iowa 565, 567-68, 84 N.W. 662, 663 (1900)).

Through their arguments made on appeal, the Plantes seek to upend this longstanding approval of contingent fee agreements in Iowa by subjecting

them to inappropriate hindsight and standards which do not apply to contingency fees.

Rule 32:1(a) of the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct states as follows:

- (a) A lawyer shall not make an agreement for, charge, or collect an unreasonable fee or an unreasonable amount for expenses, or violate any restrictions imposed by law. The factors to be considered in determining the reasonableness of a fee include the following:
- (1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly;
- (2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer;
- (3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services;
- (4) the amount involved and the results obtained;
- (5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances;
- (6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client;
- (7) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the services; and
- (8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent.

As noted in the Plantes' Proof Brief, this Rule went into effect when the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct were changed in their entirety in 2005. However, what the Plantes' Proof Brief does not note is that although the prohibition against "clearly excessive" fees in the former rule system (DR 2-106) was changed to a prohibition against "unreasonable" fees, *the language* 

"clearly excessive" under DR 2-106 or "unreasonable" under 32:1.5 are exactly the same. Therefore, as set forth in more detail below, the Plantes' argument that the change in the rule scheme should cause the Iowa appellate courts to reconsider prior rulings is without merit, since the relevant part of the rule has not changed.

The fee sought by MRD is contingent (factor (8), and the Iowa Supreme Court has made it quite clear that it is not the intent of the rule "that contingent fee agreements must be re-examined at the conclusion of successful litigation with respect to the factors applicable to noncontingent fees." Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct of The Iowa State Bar Ass'n v.

McCullough, 468 N.W.2d 458, 461(Iowa 1991). As McCullough was a pre-2005 case, it relied on the prior rule scheme, but as noted, the factors have not changed, so there is no basis for re-examining this precedent. Simply put, there is no warrant in either the rule or case law precedent to scrutinize the amount of the fee at the conclusion of this case, when the contingency fee percentage is reasonable.

The Plantes make the argument that somehow the commentary to Rules under the new regulatory scheme overrules case law precedent when they assert, *carte blanche*, that Comment 3 to Rule 32:1.5 makes all eight

factors "applicable to contingent fee contracts." (Proof Brief p. 38). That is not what Comment 3 states:

Contingent fees, like any other fees, are subject to the reasonableness standard of paragraph (a) of this rule. In determining whether a particular contingent fee is reasonable, or whether it is reasonable to charge any form of contingent fee, a lawyer must consider the factors that are relevant under the circumstances.

*Id.* (emphasis added). Accordingly, contrary to the Plantes' argument, the first seven factors do not automatically apply – only those relevant under the circumstances apply. In no way does the commentary rule overrule Iowa case law precedent which indicates that "hindsight" review of contingency fees is not appropriate when the contingency fee is reasonable at the outset of the case pursuant to the applicable factors.

Rule 32:1(c) sets forth the requirement that contingent fees must be agreed to in writing:

(c) A fee may be contingent on the outcome of the matter for which the service is rendered, except in a matter in which a contingent fee is prohibited by paragraph (d) or other law. A contingent fee agreement shall be in a writing signed by the client and shall state the method by which the fee is to be determined, including the percentage or percentages that shall accrue to the lawyer in the event of settlement, trial, or appeal; litigation and other expenses to be deducted from the recovery; and whether such expenses are to be deducted before or after the contingent fee is calculated. The agreement must clearly notify the client of any expenses for which the client will be liable whether or not the client is the prevailing party. Upon conclusion of a contingent fee matter, the lawyer shall provide the client with a written statement stating the outcome of the

matter and, if there is a recovery, showing the remittance to the client and the method of its determination.

There is no dispute that MRD complied with this Rule. The whole purpose of this Rule would be gutted if the Plante's argument were to be accepted. Lawyers should not be required to execute written fee arguments if a court could, after the fact, determine a contractual fee is unreasonable even though the agreement itself had previously been reasonable throughout the course of the representation.

2. Contingency fee agreements of one-third of the recovery are typical in cases, such as this one, where there was risk and uncertainty at the time the fee agreement was signed.

A summation of the pertinent case law in Iowa on the reasonableness of contingency fees is found at 16 Iowa Practice Series, *Lawyer and Judicial Ethics*  $\S 5:5(d)(2)$ .<sup>5</sup> The article begins with the following statement:

As Comment 3 to Rule 1.5 states, "[c]ontingent fees, like any other fees, are subject to the reasonableness standard of paragraph (a) of this rule." For the litigation case in which the risk of loss is significant, the Iowa Supreme Court has expressed approval of the typical one-third of recovery contingent fee. Indeed, in one particularly complex lawsuit, in which the law firm had advanced all costs despite the "a strong likelihood they would recover nothing," the court approved a 50 percent contingency fee. Thus, when the case is especially demanding in terms of attorney time and resources and the risk of loss

42

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Authored by Gregory C. Sisk (University of St. Thomas Law School) and Chief Justice Mark S. Cady.

is greater than normal, a larger contingency fee may be reasonable. Uncertainty thus defines "the very nature of cases taken on a contingency-fee basis."

Id. (internal footnotes deleted). Therefore it is noted that the Iowa Supreme Court has expressed approval for the exact percentage fee charged in this case: one-third (The cases cited in the footnote in support of this conclusion are Hoffman and McCullough). Indeed, as noted, the Iowa Supreme Court has allowed even higher contingency fee percentages to be charged in certain cases, but this appeal does not involve that issue - the fee percentage in the present case is "typical."

At the time the Plantes retained MRD, and the fee agreement was signed, there was a great deal of uncertainty as to multiple factors, including the comparative fault of the parties. Munger's Expert Report sets forth the risks at the outset of the case:

1A. This was a case of comparative fault and was risky. While that may not seem novel on its face, the novelty is that each case presents a complex set of facts that must be uniquely persuasively presented and argued. At the time Mr. Munger accepted the case at Rosanne Plante's request, on November 16, 2016, Rosanne Plante described to Mr. Munger that the day before, on November 15, 2016, her husband Chad Plante's Tahoe had been violently hit by a City bus while driving to work and that he was in a coma and may not live. (It was soon known that his injuries included a right open distal tip-fibula fracture; left middle third comminuted displaced femur fracture; right segmental fibular fracture, displaced; severe traumatic brain injury, axonal; acute respiratory failure; and altered mental status.) She did not know much of anything else, including whose fault it was. It would have been known at the time and was known to Mr. Munger,

that likely a case like that with such serious injuries would require a great deal of time and skill to establish maximum fault on the City, including hiring a liability expert or experts to prove the City's fault and Mr. Plante's lack of fault. When Trooper Olesen reported to Rosanne Plante and Mr. Munger, just prior to Rosanne signing the fee agreement, that he found the bus driver at fault, he also found that Chad was speeding. That meant that the City would be entitled to a comparative fault instruction against Chad. Almost immediately, it became known that the City hired Knight and Associates as their traffic accident reconstructionist. It was well known to Mr. Munger that Mr. Knight was a competent and thorough expert. The City's willingness to hire their own investigator and not rely on Trooper Oleson signaled that this would be a long, drawn out fight on liability requiring a very skillful trial attorney to represent Plaintiffs.

(App. 147-148).

Similarly, MRD's retained expert, Jim Daane, set forth the risks involved in his report at pages 5-6, including issues of comparative fault (indicated by the Trooper's findings that although Chad had the right of way, he was also speeding, as well as the fact that the City hired their own accident reconstructionist, Knight and Associates). (App. 371-372).

Notably, Plantes' expert, David Brown, offered no opinion whatsoever as to the risks borne by MRD as a result of taking the case. (App. 350-351).

Accordingly, it is undisputed that the risk of loss was significant, and the results were uncertain, so the fee agreement in the present case is squarely within the confines of acceptable fee agreements according to the Rule, as interpreted by the Iowa Supreme Court. The Plantes do not even attempt to

argue otherwise, and this is the reason why they make the impermissible "hindsight" argument.

3. The contingent fee, in this case, is neither a case where the "risk of loss was never substantial" or where the "ultimate recovery proved to be astronomically high."

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